
 
 
Gareth Owens LL.B Barrister/Bargyfreithiwr 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Democrataidd 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
County Hall, Mold. CH7 6NA 

Tel. 01352 702400 DX 708591 Mold 4 
www.flintshire.gov.uk 

Neuadd y Sir, Yr Wyddgrug. CH7 6NR 
Ffôn 01352 702400 DX 708591 Mold 4 

www.siryfflint.gov.uk 
 

The Council welcomes correspondence in Welsh or English 
Mae'r Cyngor yn croesawau gohebiaeth yn y Cymraeg neu'r Saesneg 

To: Kevin Sibbons (Chairman) 

Councillors: David Cox, Hilary McGuill and 
Arnold Woolley 
 
Co-opted Members 
Chris Bretherton-Watt, Jonathan Duggan-Keen, 
Patricia Jones, Kenneth Martin and Merfyn Roberts 

 
CS/NG 

 
29 October 2012 

 
01352 

702345/702350/702324/702331/7
02322 

 
 

 
 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
A meeting of the STANDARDS COMMITTEE will be held in the CLWYD 
COMMITTEE ROOM, COUNTY HALL, MOLD CH7 6NA on MONDAY, 5TH 
NOVEMBER, 2012 at 6.00 PM to consider the following items. 
 
Please note that a training session for Standards Committee Members will be 
held from 6.00pm – 6.30pm. 
 
 

Yours faithfully 
 

 
 

Democracy & Governance Manager 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1 APOLOGIES  

 
2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING 

DECLARATIONS)  

 

Public Document Pack



3 MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6) 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 1 October, 
2012. 
 

4 DISPENSATIONS  

 

5 TRAINING FOR COUNCILLORS ON THE CODE OF CONDUCT (Pages 7 - 
10) 

 Report of the Monitoring Officer is enclosed. 
 

6 ADJUDICATION PANEL FOR WALES ANNUAL REPORT 2011-2012 

(Pages 11 - 36) 

 To receive and note the report of the Adjudication Panel for Wales 2011/12. 
 

7 FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 37 - 38) 

 For the Committee to consider topics to be included on the attached draft 
Forward Work Programme. 
 

 



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
1 OCTOBER 2012 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee of Flintshire County Council 
held at Council Chamber, Buckley Town Council on Monday, 1 October 2012 
 
PRESENT: Mr Kevin Sibbons (Chairman) 
Mr Chris Bretherton-Watt, Mr Jonathan Duggan-Keen, Mr Kenneth Martin and 
Mr Merfyn Roberts 
Councillors: Hilary McGuill and Arnold Woolley 
 
APOLOGIES: Councillor David Cox, Patricia Jones and Mr. J. Woolley 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Councillors R. Lloyd and A. Evans. Mr I. Jones, Mr. G. Collett, 
Ms. E. Snowden, Ms V. Ames, Ms J. Hough, Mr. G Roberts, Mr. R. Phillip Parry 
and Mr. M. Moriarty 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Head of Legal and Democratic Services, Democracy and 
Governance Manager and Committee Officer 
 
 
 

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING DECLARATIONS) 
 

The Chairman informed the Committee that Councillor R. Lloyd had made 
an application for dispensation to the Standards Committee in Item 4 of the 
Agenda. 
 

18. MEETING WITH TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES 
 

The Chairman welcomed representatives of Town and Community 
Councils to discuss the following report:- 
 
CODE OF CONDUCT AND TREATING OTHERS WITH RESPECT 
 

The Head of Legal and Democratic Services informed Committee that he 
had recently received revised guidance from the Ombudsman relating to the code 
of conduct and treating others with respect.  He explained the background to the 
case.  A town councillor, found to be in breach of the code of conduct, took the 
Adjudication Panel for Wales to the High Court by way of Judicial Review and 
was successful.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services explained that 
while the court found that rude comments had been made about fellow 
Councillors, as the majority of the comments referred to the way the council was 
run, they were permissible under his rights to political expression. The Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services voiced his disappointment at the decision and 
said that revised guidance by the Ombudsman, which was based upon the case, 
appeared to give the right to Councillors to be rude to other Councillors, council 
officers and clerks.  He added that the Welsh Local Government Association may 
be seeking to challenge this decision.  The Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services cited a case in England whereby a councillor, alleged to have displayed 
rude behaviour was successfully found to be in breach of the code of conduct.  
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that he would locate the article 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 

about the English councillor and circulate it. He added that this case could be 
brought to the attention of the ombudsman should any future cases emerge. 

 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services invited questions from those 

present. 
 
Councillor H.J. McGuill commented that the revised guidance meant that 

councillors no longer had to treat councillors or council officers with respect.  She 
was concerned that council meetings would subsequently be difficult to manage.  
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that a County Council or Town 
and Community council’s rules of debate would still apply and that Chairs could 
exclude committee members from a meeting, but not find them in breach of the 
Code of Conduct.  Councillor McGuill asked if this meant a councillor had the 
freedom to insult another councillor.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
explained that the insult would have to be based around political expression, 
such as a criticism of a service, policy or aspect of administration which called 
into question the competency of a portfolio holder in cabinet, councillor or officer. 

 
Mr M. Roberts said that this decision would be a backwards step which 

could harm the culture of respect which had been established.  The Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services replied that it would be difficult to create a 
voluntary agreement which outlined the higher standards of conduct as such a 
document might also risk being struck down by the courts .  However, he added 
that the Standard Orders could explain more explicitly the types of conduct likely 
to lead to eviction in an effort to set clear expectations of the sort of behaviour 
that would be acceptable. 

 
Ms J. Hough asked if the WLGA would consider mounting a challenge to 

the revised guidance.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that the 
Chair of WLGA had emailed all Chief Executives for feedback.  He said that 
Pembroke had responded and that he had responded on behalf of Flintshire.  
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said it was anticipated that the 
matter would be an agenda item at the next ACES meeting on 5 October 2012. 

 
Councillor A.W. Woolley said that if a councillor directed personal insults to 

another councillor during a meeting, the Chair could eject them, but if they used 
an insult coupled with a political reference, the Chair would be powerless to act.  
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that good chairmanship can 
avoid this and suggested that rigorous enforcement of the convention that all 
comments be directed through the Chair could help to reduce tension and 
prevent arguments from becoming heated or personal. 

 
Councillor H. J. McGuill said that the Ombudsman had previously spent a 

lot of time looking at complaints and she understood why the revised guidance 
had been put in place. She said that the new guidance, however, did not convey 
any sense of the respect agenda.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
said that he would be feeding this back to the Ombudsman.  He said that this was 
only one decision and might, in the future, be tested and re-interpreted. 

 
Ms J. Hough asked why the Adjudication Panel could not appeal.  The 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that the Ombudsman was advised 
not to appeal as it was unlikely that they would win the case. 

Page 2



 

 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that there was the 

possibility of a fourth training session for Town and Community Councillors, to be 
hosted by Saltney Town Council which could cover the code of conduct.  
Councillor R. Lloyd was asked to speak to Saltney Town Clerk to arrange the 
event, to be presented by The Head of Legal and Democratic Services and the 
Democracy and Governance Manager. 

 
Councillor H.J. McGuill asked if a future training session could include the 

different roles of town and community councillors and clerks and the decision 
making process.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that they 
could cover the role of the clerk and expectations.  He said that he and the 
Democracy & Governance Manager can offer advice to any councillor or clerks 
though if approached by a councillor then in order to get the full facts they would 
be likely to speak to the clerk as well. 

 
The Chair asked that the minutes of this meeting be distributed to all Town 

and Community Councils. 
 
Gareth Roberts offered to circulate any additional Flintshire guidance to all 

the clerks in the area.  The Chair suggested that guidance could be circulated to 
the North Wales Forum.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that 
he would find out what other county councils were offering in the way of training. 

 
Mr M. Roberts said he could not anticipate training needs until issues 

arose.  He said that it would be a great help if the monitoring officer was available 
to deal promptly with a matter.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
reiterated that he was happy to advise town and community councils. 

 
The Chair asked if the Flintshire website could build up a resource area for 

town and community councils and post regular Q&A sections. 
 
Councillor A. Woolley said that it was difficult to know which issues would 

emerge, and that information was available on the Ombudsman’s web site. 
 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services then invited comments on the 

level of support available to town and community councils from the Standards 
Committee. 

 
Councillor H.J. McGuill said that she preferred to contact the Head of 

Legal and Democratic Services in the first instance, rather than One Voice 
Wales.  She said that she would like all town and community councils to be 
aware of the support available from the county council.  The Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services said that he would write to all town and community councils 
on this matter. 

 
Mr M. Moriarty asked if the Head of Legal and Democratic Services could 

be contacted via email.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services circulated 
his email address gareth.owens@flintshire.gov.uk to the group.  Mr M. Moriarty 
asked if there was a standard form for declarations of interest at town and 
community councils.  Mr M. Moriarty said that his town council has produced their 
own forms.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services asked that a copy of the 

Page 3



 

form be sent to him. Mr I. Jones said that standard forms were used at his town 
council.  Ms. E. Snowden said that she had sent a declaration of interest form 
from her community council to County Council the previous week. 

 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services asked the committee to 

decide how they wished to proceed on the alternative recommendations in his 
report, whether they noted the advice or wished to make representations to the 
Ombudsman.   The Democracy & Governance Manager said that he was 
concerned that the judgment could allow politicians to be less respectful to 
officers. 

 
Councillor A. Woolley said that representations should be made and 

concurred with the Democracy and Governance Manager’s comments. 
 
Councillor H. J. McGuill said she was not happy with the revised guidance as she 
believed it went against the agenda for respect. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That representations be made to the Ombudsman outlining the concerns of the 
Committee. 
 

19. MINUTES 
 
Matters arising 
 

The Head of Legal and Democratic Services confirmed that the Annual 
Report had now been sent out. 

 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services confirmed that the first 

training session had been held and that he would speak to other county councils 
at the ACES meeting on 5 October 2012 to see if they wanted a joint training 
session with Peter Keith Lucas. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 3 September 2012 were confirmed as a 
correct record. 
 

20. DISPENSATIONS 
 

The Chair introduced item 4 on the Agenda which related to an application 
for dispensation by Councillor R. Lloyd.  The Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services advised that Councillor Lloyd be allowed to state his case, receive 
advice and would then be requested to leave the room whilst the matter was 
discussed. 

 
Councillor R. Lloyd explained that he wished to be able to speak and vote 

at Planning Committee about an application within his ward for a new Scout 
Headquarters.  He explained that he is a town councillor and county councillor for 
Saltney and that the town council had made the application on behalf of the 

Page 4



 

Scouts to save in planning fees.  He explained that he was not a member of the 
Scout Association. 

 
Councillor H. J. McGuill asked if the application had been a controversial 

decision for the town council.  Councillor Lloyd replied that it had been a 
unanimous decision. 

 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that currently there was 

no suggestion that the application would have to go to planning committee.  He 
advised that Councillor R. Lloyd should be allowed to correspond with the council 
on the application but that all communications on this matter be conducted in 
written format for openness.  He added that the planning process was impartial 
and that he would not advise that Cllr Lloyd be permitted to vote on the 
application, in order to maintain public confidence.  In light of this advice Cllr 
Lloyd withdrew his application for permission to remain in the room and vote on 
the application. 

 
The Democracy and Governance Manager advised that as a member of 

the public, Councillor R. Lloyd could speak for 3 minutes at the meeting about the 
application and then leave the room.  He advised that a dispensation could be 
made to allow him to speak for 5 minutes as a county council member, then 
withdraw and play no part in the voting process.  The Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services also advised Councillor R. Lloyd that if granted the 
dispensation then he would need to declare it each time he wrote to the Council, 
or spoke about the matter in a Council Meeting. 

 
Councillor R. Lloyd, at this point withdrew his request to vote and left the 

room so that the Committee could consider his request. 
 
The Committee debated the matter and considered Councillor R. Lloyds’s 

request. 
 
Councillor R. Lloyd was asked to return to the Committee room to hear the 

decision. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Councillor R. Lloyd to be granted dispensation by the Standards Committee 
to write to Council officers about planning application 049848 and to speak for 5 
minutes at any subsequent Planning Committee,  he would then have to withdraw 
from the meeting and play no part in the voting process. 
 

21. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 

The Head of Legal and Democratic Services introduced the Forward Work 
Programme based on suggestions from the previous meeting and asked for any 
further items for November, December and January meetings.  No additional 
items were suggested.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services said that he 
would write a report on attendance numbers at the training sessions. 
 

Page 5



 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the Forward Work Programme be agreed. 
 

22. MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS IN ATTENDANCE 
 

There were no members of the public or press in attendance. 
 
 

(The meeting started at 6.30 pm and ended at 7.55 pm) 
 
 

   

 Chair  
 

Page 6



FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

REPORT TO: 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

DATE: 
 

MONDAY, 5 NOVEMBER 2012 

REPORT BY: 
 

MONITORING OFFICER 
 

SUBJECT:  
 

TRAINING FOR COUNCILLORS ON THE CODE OF 
CONDUCT 

 
 
1.00 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
1.01 To inform Members of the training undertaken so far in this municipal 

year in respect of the Code of Conduct. 
 

2.00 BACKGROUND 
 

2.01 The Standards Committee have previously been informed that three 
training sessions were provided for Town and Community Councillors 
on the 20, 21, and 22 June.  Officers had agreed to provide a 
breakdown of that training.  In total 37 Councillors from a possible 441 
seats attended which equates to 16% attendance.  17 (listed below) of 
the 34 Town and Community Councils were represented at the 
training sessions: 
 

• Argoed Community Council • Bagillt Community Council 

• Caerwys Town Council • Connah’s Quay Town 
Council 

• Gwernymynydd Community 
Council 

• Halkyn Community Council 

• Higher Kinnerton Community 
Council 

• Hope Community Council 

• Leeswood Community 
Council 

• Llanfynydd Community 
Council 

• Mold Town Council • Mostyn Community Council 

• Nannerch Community Council • Northop Community 
Council 

• Northop Hall Community 
Council 

• Sealand Community 
Council 

• Whitford Community Council 
 

 

 
2.02 As previously mentioned a further training event is being arranged in 

conjunction with Saltney Town Council.  That has now been set for 26 
November at 6.30pm and all Town and Community Councils have 
been invited to that event.  One parish council to my knowledge is 
meeting on that day and two of its councillors who wanted to attend 
the training sessions are therefore unable to do so.  They have been 

Agenda Item 5

Page 7



invited to attend a separate session with myself and the Democracy & 
Governance Manger. 
 

2.03 Three training sessions on the 17, 23 and 24 May were arranged for 
County Councillors.  Six Councillors attended.  This represents 4% of 
the total number of Councillors and 60% of those Councillors elected 
in May 2012 who had not previously been a County Councillor. 
 

2.04 On the 19 October Group Leaders agreed that the Monitoring Officer 
would be invited to group meetings to give a 20 minute presentation in 
respect of interests, being that aspect of the Code which is the most 
complex and least obvious. 
 

2.05 In addition to the formal training sessions, copies of the guidance on 
the Code of Conduct issued by the Ombudsman have been sent to all 
County Councillors.  Separate guidance is published in respect of 
Town and Community Councillors and that has been sent to all 
Clerks. 
 

3.00 CONSIDERATIONS 
 

3.01 Clearly, coverage amongst Town and Community Councils was higher 
than amongst County Councillors though of course there are a large 
number of County Councillors who have previously been Councillors 
before.  County Councillors also have the advantage of ready access 
to advice on the Code from the Monitoring Officer and Deputy 
Monitoring Officer. 
 

3.02 The question therefore remains whether more could or ought to be 
done to raise awareness of the Code. 
 

4.00 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

4.01 That Members note the level of coverage achieved so far and that 
further training has been arranged for both Town and Community 
Councils and County Councillors. 
 

5.00 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.01 None. 
 

6.00 ANTI POVERTY IMPACT 
 

6.01 None. 
 

7.00 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
 

7.01 None. 
 

8.00 EQUALITIES IMPACT 

Page 8



 
8.01 None. 

 
9.00 PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.01 None. 

 
10.00 CONSULTATION REQUIRED 

 
10.01 None. 

 
11.00 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN 

 
11.01  None. 

 
12.00 APPENDICES 

 
12.01 None. 

 
 LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT) 1985 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
None. 

  
 Contact Officer: Gareth Owens 

Telephone:  01352 702344 
Email:   gareth.owens@flintshire.gov.uk 

 
 
   
 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



Local Government Partnership Scheme  

Report 2005-2006

Adjudication Panel for Wales

Annual Report

2011 -  2012

Agenda Item 6

Page 11



Dig i ta l  ISBN 978 0 7504 8042 0 

© Crown copyr ight  2012

WG16627 Page 12



Foreword

This report reviews the work of the Adjudication Panel for Wales during the financial 

year 2011-12.

During 2011-12, the Panel received only 4 new referrals from the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales and carried over 8 cases from 2010-11. Although relatively 

low in numerical terms, the Panel’s work in terms of tribunal hearings has been 

dominated primarily by a single ongoing tribunal in Flintshire. 

While overall the low number of news cases is to be welcomed, it has meant 

that there have been limited opportunities for the new members appointed in 

the autumn 2010 to sit alongside their more experienced colleagues in order 

to learn from their knowledge and experience. I am pleased, therefore, that the 

Minister for Local Government and Communities has recently agreed that I and 

the other members of the Panel first appointed in 2002 should be offered limited 

3 year reappointments to 2015. This will provide a further period during which 

new members can continue to sit with the original members and gain from 

their experience.

The Welsh Government continues to progress the recommendations of the report of 

the Welsh Committee of the Administrative Justice and Tribunals Council following 

its ‘Review of Tribunals Operating in Wales.’ It is anticipated that the Panel’s 

administration will transfer to the Administrative Justice and Tribunals Unit within the 

Welsh Government during the course of the current year. The transfer is a challenge 

to the business continuity of the Panel’s work in the short term, but also offers longer-

term opportunities for more effective and efficient delivery of tribunal services as part 

of the new Unit. The reappointment of members will provide stability for the judicial 

functions of the Panel during this transitional period. 

An important part of my role is ensuring that the lessons from tribunal hearings are 

shared with stakeholders throughout Wales. In part, this is achieved through the 

publication of this report and the Panel’s website. I was again this year pleased 

to be asked to speak at the Standards Conference Wales 2011, hosted by 

Powys County Council. The annual conference provides an ideal opportunity for 

1

Page 13



those involved with the code of conduct and the promotion of high standards to 

meet and share experiences.

2011-12 saw the first challenge in the Courts to a decision of an Adjudication 

Panel for Wales tribunal. The case centred on issues concerning the member’s 

right to free expression under the common law and Article 10 of the European 

Convention on Human Rights. The High Court found that the Tribunal took an over-

narrow view of what amounts to political expression and that the finding of breach 

was a disproportionate interference with the member’s Article 10 rights. A brief 

summary of the Tribunal case and the Court reference is at section 3.3 of this 

report. My Panel colleagues and I are considering carefully the implications of the 

judgement for future cases. 

In addition to case law provided by the Courts, in making their determinations 

Tribunals have due regard to guidance on the code of conduct published by 

the Ombudsman. Revised guidance on the code of conduct published by the 

Ombudsman reflects the Court’s judgement in the above mentioned case.

Finally, I hope you will find this report and the case summaries contained within 

it of interest. Once again, the report is being published via the Panel’s website 

in order to save on printing costs.

J PETER DAVIES

President of the Panel  

2

Page 14



Contents

1. Background 4

1.1 Local Government Act 2000 4

1.2 Principles of Conduct/Code of Conduct 4

1.3 Role of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 5

1.4 Role of the Adjudication Panel for Wales 6

2. Members of the Adjudication Panel for Wales 8

3. Allegations of Misconduct 11

3.1 Overview 11

3.2 Summary of Case Tribunals 12

3.3 Summary of Appeal Tribunals 17

3.4 Ongoing Cases 18

4. Overview of Procedures 19

5. Support Unit 21

Annex  
Summary of sanctions imposed by case tribunals and appeal tribunals 22

3

Page 15



1. Background

1.1 Local Government Act 2000
Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (“the 2000 Act”) established a new 

framework to promote observance of consistent standards of conduct by local 

government members in England and Wales. In essence, the framework comprises:

Public Life”);

standards of conduct;

Services Ombudsman for Wales or local authority monitoring officers; and

or, generally in more serious cases, the Adjudication Panel for Wales 

(“the Adjudication Panel”).

“Relevant authorities” under Part III of the 2000 Act in relation to Wales are 

county, county borough councils, community councils, fire and rescue authorities, 

national park authorities and police authorities.

1.2 Principles of Conduct/Code of Conduct
Following commencement of the Government of Wales Act 2006, the Welsh 

Ministers are empowered under the 2000 Act to specify general principles of 

conduct and to make a model code of conduct for elected members and co-opted 

members with voting rights. The principles draw on the ‘Seven Principles of Public 

Life’ which were set out in Lord Nolan’s report ‘Standards of Conduct in Local 

Government in England, Scotland and Wales.’   

4

Page 16



The general principles are encapsulated in the current model code of conduct 

prescribed by the Welsh Government in 2008. All local government bodies in 

Wales (with the exception of police authorities) - i.e. county and county borough 

councils, town and community councils, national park authorities and fire and rescue 

authorities - are required to adopt a code of conduct encompassing the provisions 

of the model code. All elected and co-opted members (with voting rights) must give 

a written undertaking to observe their authority’s adopted code of conduct.

Police authorities in Wales are subject to separate principles and code of conduct 

prescribed by the UK Government. However, at the time of writing, it is anticipated 

that police authorities will abolished with effect from the autumn 2012.

1.3  Role of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales/
Standards Committees

Under the 2000 Act, any person may make a written allegation to the Public 

Services Ombudsman for Wales (“the Ombudsman”) that an elected or co-opted 

member of a relevant authority in Wales has failed or may have failed, to comply 

with their authority’s code of conduct. 

Where the Ombudsman considers that an allegation warrants investigation the 

Ombudsman may arrange for the investigation to be undertaken by his/her office. 

Alternatively, the Ombudsman may refer the matter to the relevant monitoring officer 

for investigation and report to the local standards committee. 

The Ombudsman may conclude upon investigation that there was no breach of the 

code or that no further action needs to be taken. However, where there is prima 

facie evidence of a breach of the code, the Ombudsman will produce a report on 

the completed investigation and send it either to the monitoring officer of the relevant 

authority concerned or to the President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales for 

final determination.

5

Page 17



6

1.4 Role of the Adjudication Panel for Wales
The Adjudication Panel has two statutory functions:

following the investigation of allegations that a member has failed to comply 

with their authority’s code of conduct; and

standards committees that they have breached the code of conduct.

Case and Interim Case Tribunals

Where the Ombudsman sends a report to the President of the Adjudication Panel, 

a “case tribunal” formed from the Panel will be convened to consider the report, 

to receive evidence and to determine whether there has been a breach of the code 

of conduct.

If the tribunal determines that a failure to comply with an authority’s code of conduct 

has occurred, it has powers to suspend, or partially suspend, a member for up to 

one year; or it can disqualify a member for up to five years. 

Where a case tribunal decides that a person has failed to comply with 

an authority’s code of conduct, that person may seek the permission of the 

High Court to appeal that decision, or any decision of the tribunal as regards 

the sanction imposed.

Where the Ombudsman considers it necessary in the public interest, the 

Ombudsman may make an interim report to the President of the Adjudication Panel 

recommending that a member be suspended while an investigation is ongoing. 

An interim case tribunal will decide whether the member should be suspended 

or partially suspended for up to six months.

Page 18



Appeal Tribunals

Where the Ombudsman has referred the matter to a monitoring officer and the 

standards committee has determined that there has been a failure to comply with the 

code of conduct, the member concerned has a right of appeal to the Adjudication 

Panel. This right must be exercised within 21 days of the member’s receipt of 

notification of the standards committee’s determination. Where an appeal tribunal 

agrees that there has been a breach of the code, it may endorse the penalty 

set by the standards committee, or refer the matter back to the committee with a 

recommendation that a different penalty be imposed. An appeal tribunal can also 

overturn the determination of a standards committee that a member has breached 

the code of conduct. 

7

Page 19



8

2. Members of the Adjudication Panel for Wales

The current members of the Adjudication Panel are shown below. Between them, 

the members have a wide range of relevant knowledge and experience which they 

bring to the work of the Panel and its tribunals. They are located around Wales 

which facilitates the appointment of tribunals on a geographical basis.

The President, four legal members and one of the lay members are Welsh speakers.

President and Legal Members

2002-  

2012

The President of the Adjudication Panel,  

Mr J Peter Davies runs his own legal practice in 

Cardiff specialising in civil and commercial litigation 

and, in particular, regulatory matters. He is a 

Deputy District Judge and chair of the Solicitors 

Disciplinary Tribunal.

2010- 

2015

Ms Kate Berry is the former Solicitor and Monitoring 

Officer with the City and County of Cardiff. She has 

a background in private and public sector law and 

is a former town councillor in Nailsworth.

2010- 

2015

Mrs Emma Boothroyd is currently an adjudicator 

with the Solicitors Regulation Authority. She has 

a background in private law.

2002-  

2012

Mrs Helen Cole is a senior partner in a general 

practice in West Wales specialising in  

non-contentious private client work.

Page 20



9

Lay Members

2010-  

2015

Mr Gwyn Davies is a solicitor with experience in 

a range of legal jurisdictions in the private and public 

sectors. He is a former Chair of Neath, Port Talbot 

County Borough Council’s Standards Committee.

2002- 

2012
Mr Hywel James is a District Judge.

2002- 

2012

Mr Stewert Sandbrook-Hughes is a barrister 

in Swansea.

2010-

2015

Mr Andrew Bellamy is a non-executive Director with 

Estyn and peer reviewer with the Health Inspectorate 

Wales. He has a National Health Service 

background.

2002-

2012

Mr Ian Blair was County Surveyor with Powys County 

Council and has been an invited lecturer for the 

University of Wales, Aberystwyth. He is a member 

of the Courts Board for Mid and West Wales.

2002-

2012

Cllr Colin Evans is a Labour councillor with 

Carmarthenshire County Council. 

Page 21



10

2010-

2015

Miss Susan Hurds is a lay member of the Employment 

Tribunals for England and Wales. She has a 

background in the National Health Service, 

latterly with the Ceredigion Local Health Board. 

She is also a Panel Chair of the Nursing and 

Midwifery Council.

2002-

2012

Mrs Christine Jones is a former member of 

Conwy County Borough Council. She is 

also a Board member with Cartrefi Conwy 

Housing Association.

2002-

2012

Ms Juliet Morris runs an organic farm business in 

Carmarthenshire. Previously, she worked in social 

and public sector policy for organisations including 

the Local Government Information Unit, the Wales 

Consumer Council and independent advice sector 

in Wales.

Page 22



11

3. Allegations of Misconduct

3.1 Overview
In the period October 2002 to 31 March 2012, the Adjudication Panel made 

determinations on 37 references from the Ombudsman and 10 appeals against 

the decisions of a standards committee. Figures 1 to 3 give a breakdown of the 

outcomes of those determinations. A summary of the sanctions imposed is in the 

Annex to this report.

Figure 1: Case tribunal decisions October 2002 to March 2012

Figure 2: Appeal tribunal decisions - October 2002 to March 2012

11

19%

49%

5%

5%

14%

8%

Disqualification
a

b

c

d

e

f

Suspension

Partial Suspension

Censure

Breach - no action

No breach

a

b

c

d

e

f

60%

30%

10%

Suspension

a

b

c

Censure

No breach

a

b

c

Page 23



Figure 3: Breaches by type October 2002 to March 2012

 
3.2 Summary of Case Tribunals
The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales referred 4 cases to the Panel during 

2011-12 and 6 cases were carried over from the previous year. Summaries of the 

6 cases determined by the Panel during the year are below.

APW/006/2010-011/CT & APW/010/2010-11/CT -  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
There were two separate referrals from the Ombudsman which were considered by 

a single Tribunal.

The allegations were that the councillor had breached the Council’s code of conduct 

by using his Council laptop to set up an inappropriate poll about Amanda Knox; 

by publishing inappropriate comments on the internet about Housing Benefit 

claimants; sending inappropriate emails; misusing Council resources; breaking the 

12

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 s
ho

w
 r
es

p
ec

t/
eq

ua
lit

y/
b
ul

ly
in

g

C
om

p
ro

m
is
in

g
 im

p
a
rti

a
lit

y
of

 e
m

p
lo

ye
e

D
is
cl

os
ur

e 
of

co
nfi

d
en

tia
l i

nf
or

m
a
tio

n

W
ith

ho
ld

in
g
 in

fo
rm

a
tio

n

C
om

m
itt

in
g
 a

cr
im

in
a
l o

ffe
nc

e

B
rin

g
in

g
 o

ffi
ce

/
a
ut

ho
rit

y 
in

to
 d

is
re

p
ut

e

Ve
xa

tio
us

 o
r

m
a
lic

io
us

 c
om

p
la

in
ts

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 c
o-

op
er

a
te

w
ith

 O
m

b
ud

sm
a
n

M
is
us

e 
of

 p
os

iti
on

M
is
us

e 
of

a
ut

ho
rit

y'
s 

re
so

ur
ce

s

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 r
ea

ch
 d

ec
is
io

ns
 

on
 m

er
it/

in
 p

ub
lic

 in
te

re
st
 

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 h
a
ve

 r
eg

a
rd

to
 o

ffi
ce

r 
a
d
vi

ce

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 le
a
d
 b

y 
ex

a
m

p
le

(lo
ca

l p
ro

vi
si
on

)

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 d
is
cl

os
e 

in
te

re
st

a
nd

/
or

 w
ith

d
ra

w

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 h
a
ve

 r
eg

a
rd

 to
st
a
nd

a
rd

s 
co

m
m

itt
ee

 a
d
vi

ce

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

O
th

er
 b

od
y’
s 

co
d
e

Page 24



Council’s Internet Security policies; failing to show respect and consideration for 

others; disclosing a confidential letter; publishing a deliberately misleading press 

release; and bringing the office of councillor and his authority into disrepute.

The councillor denied that the online poll had been set up by him and that the 

inappropriate comments published on the internet were made in a personal or private 

capacity. However, the Tribunal found that in using the council provided laptop, 

internet access and referring to his council email address the councillor was in breach 

of paragraphs 4(b) and 7(b) i to vi. 

The Tribunal found that the councillor while representing his authority on another body, 

had disclosed information contained in a letter that had been marked “confidential” 

in breach of paragraphs 3(a) and 5(a). 

The Tribunal found the media attention generated by the councillor’s actions brought 

his office and authority into disrepute in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a).

The councillor was suspended for a period of nine months and advised to undertake 

further training on the code of conduct.

APW/007/2010-011/CT - Torfaen County Borough Council
The referral concerned allegations that the councillor had breached the code 

of conduct by failing to declare an interest and using his position improperly 

when making donations to local organisations under the Council’s Small 

Schemes Allowance.

The councillor had completed application forms requesting donations to local 

organisations but had failed to disclose that he had personal or prejudicial interests 

in those organisations at the time of the donation, in breach of paragraphs 6(1)(a), 

7(a),10(1),11(2)(a) and 14(1)(d).

The Tribunal found that the councillor had on previous occasions, declared interests 

in the very organisations for which he subsequently signed forms stating he had no 

interest. The Tribunal was satisfied that although the councillor had not attempted 

to gain financially for himself he did have a personal and prejudicial interest. 

The Tribunal was concerned that the councillor was too busy to attend training on 

the code of conduct and sought to excuse his breaches by his other commitments.  

13

Page 25



The Tribunal concluded that the councillor should be suspended for a period of 

one month and should also attend the next available training session on the Code of 

Conduct.

APW/011/2010-011/CT -  
North Wales Police Authority and Isle of Anglesey County Council
The referral concerned allegations that the councillor had breached the code of 

conduct for members of the North Wales Police Authority by attempting to engage 

the Temporary Assistant Chief Constable in conversation about a complaint against 

a constituent; criticising the way the police were dealing with the investigation 

against that constituent; displaying overbearing and intimidating behaviour towards 

3 police officers during a visit to Holyhead Police Station and attempting to 

influence the course of a police investigation

The allegations in respect of the Isle of Anglesey County Council’s code of conduct 

were that his behaviour at Holyhead Police Station was bullying and harassing and 

failed to show respect for others; that he disclosed confidential information about the 

health of a fellow councillor and that he brought his office or authority into disrepute.

The Tribunal was not satisfied that the North Wales Police Authority’s code of 

conduct was engaged. The Tribunal was satisfied that the councillor had not given 

the impression that he was acting as a representative of that authority.

The Tribunal found no evidence that the councillor had disclosed information that 

could be regarded as confidential, that he had sought to confer an advantage for 

himself or his constituent, or that he had attempted to compromise the impartiality 

of those who were working for the North Wales Police Authority. The Tribunal was 

satisfied that his conduct during his conversation with one of the police officers at 

Holyhead Police Station had been inappropriate, and that he had failed to show 

her respect and consideration in breach of paragraph 4(b).

The Tribunal was satisfied that his conduct had brought both the office of councillor 

and the Council itself into disrepute in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a).

The Tribunal accepted that the councillor had given considerable public service 

to his community and that this was a one-off incident where the councillor had an 

14

Page 26



honestly held, but mistaken, belief as to what he could and should do about the 

situation in which he and his constituent had found themselves.

The Tribunal concluded that the councillor should be censured and warned about his 

future conduct. 

APW/001/2011-012/CT - Torfaen County Borough Council
The referral concerned allegations that immediately following his appearance before 

an Adjudication Panel for Wales tribunal, which suspended him for 12 months, 

he resumed practices consistent with those that had brought him before that tribunal. 

He issued press releases regarding that hearing and the suspension he had 

received. He also expressed opinions about the integrity and honesty of the Council 

and its senior officers.

In the absence of a response from the, by then, former councillor within the statutory 

deadline, the Tribunal made its adjudication on the basis of the papers before it in 

exercise of its powers under paragraph 3(3) of the Adjudications by Case Tribunals 

and Interim Case Tribunals (Wales) Regulations 2001.

The Tribunal considered that the emails issued by the councillor breached paragraph 

6(1)(a) of the code of conduct. The Tribunal also considered the Public Statement 

made by the councillor in which he challenged the legal basis for the existence of 

the Adjudication Panel for Wales accusing it of inherent bias. The councillor gave 

no factual or evidential basis to support any of his allegations.

The Tribunal noted that that the previous Tribunal  had given very serious 

consideration to imposing a disqualification, but in reliance of the councillor’s 

undertaking to adhere to the code of conduct, to moderate his behaviour and to act 

in a non-adversarial fashion in the future, it had suspended him for 12 months.

The Tribunal noted that despite the undertakings given at the earlier 

hearing, the following day he continued to issue press releases containing 

unsubstantiated allegations.

The Tribunal considered that the former councillor’s conduct merited a disqualification 

from holding office for a period of 3 years.

15

Page 27



APW/008/2010-2011/CT -  
Saltney Town Council and Flintshire County Council
The referral concerned allegations that the councillor had acted inappropriately 

during council meetings; caused distress to another person; failed to account for 

his mayoral allowance; disclosed confidential information and that his conduct had 

brought his office and the authorities into disrepute.

The Tribunal found that the councillor, when Mayor, had made inappropriate remarks 

about Saltney which he refused to withdraw; adjourned one council meeting 

contrary to the decision of the Town Council and prematurely closed another 

meeting; was abusive and discourteous to the Town Clerk and Deputy Mayor at 

the agenda meeting; referred to members as “wild bisons and spoilt brats” and 

refused to comply with the council’s own standing orders and motions in breach of 

paragraph 6(1)(a).

The Tribunal found that the councillor had exhibited bullying behaviour towards the 

Town Clerk during council meetings and in general communications in breach of 

paragraph 4(c) and had ignored his advice in breach of paragraph 8(a). He had 

caused distress to the widow of a previous mayor when he had approached 

her about her late husband’s mayoral allowance and had refused to apologise, 

in breach of paragraph 4(b).

The Tribunal found that despite the Business Task Group’s decision that their meetings 

were to be held in confidential session and that matters should not be shared 

with third parties, the councillor had divulged the comments made about the local 

Secondary School to the Head Teacher in breach of paragraph 5(a).

The Tribunal concluded that the councillor had breached the code of conduct for 

Saltney Town Council and should be suspended for 12 months. The Tribunal found 

no breach in respect of Flintshire County Council’s code of conduct.

16

Page 28



3.3 Summary of Appeal Tribunals
There were 2 appeal tribunal hearings during the reporting year.

APW/009/2010-011/A - Manorbier Community Council
An appeal was received against the decision of Pembrokeshire County Council’s 

Standards Committee that the councillor had breached the community council’s code 

of conduct and that he should be censured and undertake training on the code 

of conduct.

The allegations were that the contents of the councillor’s website postings comprising 

his opinions and comments about the character and ability of some of the members 

of the Community Council had breached the code of conduct by failing to show 

respect and consideration to others and bringing his authority into disrepute. 

The councillor stated that he was not acting in his official capacity and that the 

comments on his website were legitimate political comment on the actions of the 

Community Council and individual councillors. He submitted that a finding of breach 

was an inappropriate infringement of his right to freedom of expression under 

Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR).

The Appeal Tribunal concluded that a member of the public reading the website 

would have gained the impression that the councillor was acting as a member of 

the Community Council. The Appeal Tribunal found that the postings, whether or not 

they were true, showed a lack of respect to individual members of the council and 

the council as a body. The Tribunal concluded that whilst Article 10 of the ECHR 

was engaged, the higher level of protection afforded to political expression did 

not apply.

The Appeal Tribunal upheld the determination of the Standards Committee that the 

councillor had breached the code of conduct and endorsed the sanction that he 

should be censured and undertake training on the code of conduct.

Note: the Appeal Tribunal and Standards Committee decisions were overturned 

following a Judicial Review by the High Court - Ref:[2012] EWHC 1172 (Admin).

17

Page 29



APW/012/2010-011/A - Torfaen County Borough Council
An appeal was received against the decision of Torfaen County Borough Council’s 

Ethics and Standards Committee that the councillor had breached the Council’s code 

of conduct and should be censured. Whilst not appealing the finding of breach the 

councillor was appealing the sanction imposed.

The allegations were that the councillor had failed to maintain accurate records of 

his appointments and interests in the statutory register in breach of paragraphs 15(1) 

and 15(2). The councillor had completed application forms requesting donations 

under the Council’s Small Schemes Allowance to Torfaen Access Coalition and 

Fairwater Comprehensive School but had failed to disclose that he had a personal 

and prejudicial interest in breach of paragraphs 11(2)(a) and 14(1)(d).

The Appeal Tribunal took into account the number of breaches found by the 

Standards Committee, the delay by the councillor in updating the register of interests 

and the declaration that the councillor had no interest when this was not the case.

The Appeal Tribunal decided by unanimous decision to endorse the decision of the 

Ethics and Standards Committee that the councillor should be censured.

3.4 Ongoing Cases
At September 2012, the Adjudication Panel had determined 3 cases in the current 

financial year and a further 5 were on going. These cover a range of potential 

breaches, such as failing to show respect, attempting to misuse their position 

as a member, intimidating and bullying behaviour towards council employees, 

making unsubstantiated public allegations about officers.

Further information on completed cases can be found in tribunal decision reports 

which are published on the Panel’s website: www.adjudicationpanelwales.org.uk

18

Page 30



19

4.  Overview of Procedures

The work of the Adjudication Panel for Wales is governed by Part III of 

the Local Government Act 2000 and subordinate legislation made by the 

National Assembly for Wales/Welsh Ministers and the UK Government (the latter 

in relation to police authorities). 

The overriding aim of the Adjudication Panel is to ensure that all parties are able 

to have their cases presented and to have them considered as fully and fairly 

as possible.

Tribunals will normally comprise a legally qualified chairperson, plus two others. 

This may be varied at the President of the Adjudication Panel’s discretion.

Tribunal hearings will normally be held in public except where the tribunal considers 

that publicity would prejudice the interests of justice, or where the respondent 

or appellant agrees that the allegations may be dealt with by way of written 

representatives. There may be other reasons from time to time for not holding 

a hearing, or part of a hearing, in public.

Hearings will usually take place in the relevant authority’s area where suitable 

accommodation is available. Hearing arrangements take account of any 

special requirements of those attending, such as wheelchair access, interpreter, 

hearing assistance etc.

A simultaneous translation service is provided for those who wish a tribunal hearing 

to be conducted in Welsh.

The person who is the subject of the allegations is entitled to give evidence, to call 

witnesses, to question any witnesses and to address the tribunal on matters pertinent 

to allegations under consideration.

Details of tribunal hearings and their outcome are published on the Panel’s web-site 

and in the local press as appropriate.

Page 31



20

There is a right to seek the permission of the High Court to appeal the decision 

of interim case tribunals and case tribunals established by the Adjudication Panel. 

There is no right of appeal against the decisions of appeal tribunals, but, as a 

public body, the Adjudication Panel and its tribunals are subject to judicial review 

where appropriate.

Further information on tribunal procedures can be found on the 

Adjudication Panel’s web-site.  

Page 32



21

5. Support Unit

The Adjudication Panel is supported by:

Stephen Phipps, Registrar to the Panel

John Davies

Carol Webber 

Jason Plange

The Panel’s address is:

Adjudication Panel for Wales

1st Floor, North Wing (N-04)

Cathays Park

CARDIFF

CF10 3NQ

Tel: 029 2082 6705/6414

Fax: 029 2082 3442

E-mail: adjudicationpanel@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Web-site: www.adjudicationpanelwales.org.uk

Page 33



22

Annex

Summary of Sanctions Imposed by Case Tribunals and Appeal Tribunals 
in the Period October 2002 to March 2012

Sanction Period No of decisions

Case and Appeal Tribunals

Disqualification  3 years 1

 2 years 6 months 1

 2 years 1

 1 year 6 months 1

 1 year 3

Suspension  12 months 6

 9 months 4

 6 months 4

 4 months 1

 3 months 2

 2 months 4

 1 month 3

Partial Suspension  3 months 1

 7 weeks 1

Censure  - 5

Breach - no action  - 5

No breach  - 4

Withdrawn  - 2

Page 34



23

Appeals

Breach of code upheld/dismissed 9 (90%)/1 (10%)

Sanction endorsed 7

Different sanction recommended 1 increase/1 decrease

Not accepted/withdrawn 

 

 

1 

1

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL – STANDARDS COMMITTEE – FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 
Date of Meeting 
 

Topic Notes/Decision/Action 

2014 • Retirements from Committee Independent Member – M Roberts (Jan), Mrs P Jones (July) 
 

2013 • Retirements from Committee 
 

• 19 April – All Wales Standards Conference 
 

Independent Members - K Martin (Feb), C Bretherton-Watt (Nov) 
 

7 January 2013 • North Wales Standards Committee Forum meeting 
 

• Election of new Chair person 
 

• Training Session 
 

• Any requests for dispensation 
 

 

3 December 2012 • Recruitment of Independent Member  
 

• Use of Resources Protocol 
 

• Training Session 
 

• Any requests for dispensation 
 

Independent Member – K Sibbons (retires Dec) 
 

  
 

A
genda Item

 7

P
age 37



P
age 38

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 TRAINING FOR COUNCILLORS ON THE CODE OF CONDUCT
	6 Adjudication Panel for Wales Annual Report 2011-2012
	7 Forward Work Programme

